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THE HIGH COURT




BETWEEN 


2008 336 JR
GEORGIY GAVRYLYUK AND LYUDMILA GAVRYLYUK 
AND
2008 458 JR
ADBELHAFID BENSAADA
APPLICANTS
AND 

THE MINISTER FOR JUSTICE, EQUALITY AND LAW REFORM
RESPONDENT
JUDGMENT OF MR JUSTICE BIRMINGHAM, delivered on the 14th day of October, 2008 

1. Each of the applicants in these cases is a person who is seeking subsidiary protection and has sought to have an application for subsidiary protection under the European Communities (Eligibility for Protection) Regulations (S.I. No. 518 of 2006) considered on a substantive basis by the Minister for Justice, Equality and Law Reform (“the Minister”) and has failed in that regard. Both of these cases give rise to similar legal issues and, indeed, it is understood that similar issues arise in a number of other cases. These cases have been selected by Finlay Geoghegan J., the Judge having charge of the asylum list, as ‘test cases’. 
2. At the outset, it is of assistance to refer to the basis on which the claim for subsidiary protection is advanced in each case, and to say something of the prior procedural history of each case. 
I. The case of Georgiy Gavrylyuk and Lyudmila Gavrylyuk. 
3. These applicants, who are husband and wife, are nationals of Ukraine, although the first named applicant is of Romanian ethnicity. The applicants state that they are at risk of imprisonment in Ukraine as a result of difficulties that they are experiencing with the Ukrainian tax authorities and, more specifically, the Ukrainian tax police. They say that if imprisoned, the conditions to which they would be subjected would amount to cruel, inhuman and degrading treatment. 
The first named applicant – Georgiy Gavrylyuk
4. The first named applicant arrived in this State in October, 2000. It appears that he was in possession of a false Lithuanian passport. Thereafter, he applied for asylum in the normal way. In his interview with the Office of the Refugee Applications Commissioner (ORAC), he explained that he was seeking asylum for the following reasons: 


“Because of harsh economic situation and low standards of living, it is not possible to support a family. I had my own business but everyone demanded bribes and did not allow me to work in peace. Corruption is everywhere and without connections in high places, you are nobody. This happened to me. They started persecuting me, demanding money. They threatened me and my family. I had to come to your country and seek asylum. I earnestly request you to give me asylum as at home I have no life.”

5. In the course of the ORAC questionnaire and interview, he also refers to the fact that he was incorrectly fined and threatened to be put in prison if he did not pay the fine, and he explains that the maximum penalty for the offence with which he could be charged is five years imprisonment. 
6. In the section 13 report and decision/recommendation, the ORAC officer formed the view that the first named applicant was seeking to avoid prosecution and not persecution. The officer points out that in Ireland, a person may be required, under law, to repay unpaid taxes, to meet any fines accruing on unpaid taxes, and ultimately to go to prison for continued failure to meet such payments. The ORAC officer raises no issues about the credibility of the applicant or his account of what had occurred in the Ukraine. Essentially, the basis for the recommendation is that there is no Convention nexus for his fear of being imprisoned. 

7. The first named applicant exercised his right of appeal, referring in particular to his concerns about the relevance of his Romanian origin and his reluctance to pay bribes to the police. The RAT refused his appeal on the express basis that there was no Convention ground for his fear of being imprisoned in the Ukraine. Again, the Tribunal Member did not raise any issues as to his credibility. 

8. Representations made on his behalf seeking humanitarian leave to remain reiterated the first named applicant’s fears of being returned to Ukraine and a recurrence of the problems he had experienced there. These representations requested that Ireland honour its humanitarian obligations by not returning persons to countries in which those persons do not enjoy full rights, liberty, security and access to necessary medical care. It was also stated that the first named applicant believed that he should be recognised as a refugee and that to return him to Ukraine would amount to a breach of the prohibition of refoulement. 
The second named applicant - Lyudmila Gavrylyuk
9. The second named applicant remained in Ukraine for a period after her husband’s departure. She claims that after her husband left Ukraine, the tax police continued to pursue her and threatened her with imprisonment. She arrived in this State in November, 2001 and applied for asylum. In the section 13 report, the ORAC officer concludes that there were no applicable Convention grounds. As with her husband, it was found that the second named applicant’s motivation for leaving Ukraine appeared to relate more closely to a fear of prosecution than of persecution. The officer seems to have been of the view that the second named applicant’s recollection of the events in Ukraine was, in the main, credible and plausible. 
10. There was no appeal in the second named applicant’s case. In accordance with the normal procedure, she was invited to make representations as to why she should be granted leave to remain in the State. Representations were made on her behalf, and considered by the respondent on 29th January, 2004. 
Consideration of the applications for leave to remain
11. In each of the documents analysing the applicants’ representations, the official refers to the prohibition of refoulement contained in section 5 of the Refugee Act 1996 and quotes extensively from UK Home Office documentation. In each instance, the official concludes that repatriation would not be contrary to section 5. 
12. The extracts quoted in the analysis of the first named applicant’s representations refer to the fact that a wide variety of domestic and international human rights groups operate in Ukraine without government restriction, investigating and publishing their findings on human rights cases. Government officials were noted to be generally co-operative and responsive to their views but enquiries into penal conditions, which are a significant human rights concern, are limited by their status as State secrets, and human rights groups have reported increased difficulties in investigating in this area. 

13. The consideration given to the second named applicant’s representations was to like effect but in this case, the official quoted the following additional extract from a report produced by the UK Home Office on Ukraine, published in April 2003, at paragraph 5.22:- 


“Prison conditions are harsh and do not meet the minimum international standards. Due in part to severe economic conditions, prisons and detention centres are severely overcrowded and lack adequate sanitation and medical facilities. In June 1999, official statistics put the prison population at 223,900 including 42,600 in pre-trial detention, twice that of 1992. In addition prison officials intimidate and mistreat inmates, who are subject to regular beatings as well as torture, which has sometimes led to death. According to official statistics of the penal department in the first six months of 2001, there were 865 deaths in the prisons. Poor sanitary conditions resulted in 300 deaths from diseases such as tuberculosis and 13 from dysentery during the first half of 2001. There were frequent killings by fellow inmates and in the first half of 2001, 13 individuals were reported officially to have committed suicide.”

14. It should be noted that the same official prepared both analysis documents and did so on the same day, 29th January, 2004. Moreover, each was endorsed by the same senior official, whose endorsements are separated by one day. Deportation orders were made in respect of the applicants on the same date, 12th March, 2004.
Consideration of the applications for subsidiary protection
15. Following the coming into force of the European Communities (Eligibility for Protection) Regulations (S.I. No. 518 of 2006) in October, 2006, applications for subsidiary protection were made to the Minister on behalf of both applicants, by letter dated 2nd March, 2007. Attached to that letter was some country of origin information. A further letter in support of the applications was sent on 23rd March, 2007. The Minister responded by letter dated 27th March, 2007, in what now appears to have been standard form, stating that the applications were invalid and must be refused. 
16. However, following the decision of Feeney J. in N.H & T.D v The Minister for Justice, Equality and Law Reform [2007] IEHC 277, standard form letters were issued by the Repatriation Unit of the Minister’s Department on 5th November, 2007, inviting the applicants to make representations as to why the Minister should exercise his discretion under Regulation 4(2) of the 2006 Regulations. The relevant portion of the letter was in these terms:- 


“In the High Court judgments of Nikolin Hila v. The Minister for Justice, Equality and Law Reform [2006/1394JR] and Tmessa Djolo v. The Minister for Justice, Equality and Law Reform [2007/68JR], Mr. Justice Feeney held that the Minister has a discretion under Regulation 4 (2) of the European Communities (Eligibility for Protection) Regulations, 2006 – Statutory Instrument No. 518 of 2006 to accept and consider an application for Subsidiary Protection from an applicant, who a.) does not have an automatic right to apply (i.e. whose deportation order is dated prior to 10 October 2006) but b.) has identified new facts or circumstances relating either to himself personally or to conditions in his country of origin which demonstrate a change of position from that which pertained at the time the deportation order was made. 

In view of the foregoing, if you wish to invoke the Minister’s discretion under Regulation 4(2) on behalf of your client you are invited to make representations setting out any new facts or circumstances relevant to your client or to his country of origin which have arisen since the original decision to deport was made by the Minister and which relate to a possible entitlement to Subsidiary Protection.” 

17. In response, by letter dated 26th November, 2007, the applicants’ then solicitor made representations on their behalf as to why the respondent should exercise his discretion under Regulation 4(2). The Minister responded by letter dated 13th March, 2008, attaching an analysis document dated 15th January, 2008, stating that the applicants had established no grounds that would enable him to exercise his discretion under Regulation 4(2), and that he had therefore decided not to accept and consider the subsidiary protection application. This decision is now challenged. 
18. In order to understand the context of the challenge, it is appropriate to consider the substance of the applications and representations made by the applicants. 
The Applications for Subsidiary Protection (March, 2007)
19. The initial applications for subsidiary protection made in March, 2007, are very non-specific. Reference is made in very general and almost formal terms to a likelihood of the applicants being arrested without warrant or charge and being detained by private actors who are allowed to act with impunity by the Ukrainian authorities. It is submitted that the applicants’ fear of being assaulted, tortured or subjected to inhuman or degrading treatment extends to a threat to life. 
20. Accompanying the applications is some country of origin information, including a U.S. State Department Country Report on Human Rights Practises on Ukraine in respect of 2006, published in March 2007. As is usual with such documents, this report is all-embracing in character and deals with topics such as political freedom, religious freedom, freedom of speech, media issues and so on. In that overall review, the report refers to the penal system and notes:- 


“Problems with the police and the penal system remained some of the most serious human rights concerns. Problems include torture in pretrial detention facilities; wrongful confinement in psychiatric hospitals; harsh conditions in prisons and pretrial detention facilities; and arbitrary and lengthy pretrial detention.” 

21. Under ‘Prison and Detention Center Conditions’, the report notes:- 


“Although prison conditions remained poor, they continued to improve slowly as a result of reform in the penal system. Experts on prison medical conditions from the Council of Europe stated in October that overcrowding remained a major problem; however, prison officials reported that, due in part to the decriminalization of many offenses and the increasing use of alternative sentencing practices, there was a reduction in the number of inmates in prison, which eased overcrowding.”

22. The report details the experience of a man who was imprisoned for 15 days for “minor hooliganism” and was forced to pay to avail of “special prison facilities”. This involved a four person cell, a bucket for the toilet, dim lighting, filthy mattresses which were not replaced for new prisoners, a ban on print materials, and a lack of food for the first 24 hours. The report also refers to five group suicides that occurred during 2006, and to specific cases where problems have been identified, including poor sanitation facilities, the fact that tuberculosis continued to be a concern, and that conditions in pre-trial detention facilities were harsher than in low and medium security prisons. 

23. It will be noted, therefore, that the country of origin information submitted in support of the applications for subsidiary protection contained material that was severely critical of prevailing prison conditions. The relevant section of the report was not highlighted in the representations, however, nor was the issue that it raised isolated in any fashion.
The Representations in respect of the Minister’s Discretion (November, 2007)
24. In the representations made in November, 2007, with regard to the Minister’s discretion under Regulation 4(2), it was pointed out that the applicants had made a detailed application for subsidiary protection in March, 2007, and that they would not be making any further or different application. This notwithstanding, the question of prison conditions was specifically addressed, and it was stated that the applicants were at risk of serious harm in the form of imprisonment. 
25. The request referred to and was accompanied by an amount of country of origin documentation which was, on this occasion, specifically focussed on prison conditions. Perhaps most notable is a U.K. Home Office Operational Guidance Note - Ukraine of 4th April, 2007 (“O.G.N.”). This O.G.N. cites a recent determination of the UK Asylum and Immigration Tribunal (“A.I.T.”), in the following terms:- 


“[2006] U.K. AIT 00016PS (prison conditions; military service) Ukraine CG Date of hearing: 30 November 2005 Date Determination notified: 22 February, 2006. The AIT looked into the two issues of prison conditions and military service. The AIT decided that by virtue of the fact that they had before them as much relevant background evidence as seems to be available, they decided that the conclusions on these two issues can stand as country guidance. 

As regards prison conditions, the AIT found that imprisonment in Ukraine is likely to expose a detainee to the real risk of inhuman or degrading ill-treatment that would cross the Article 3 threshold. The AIT recognised that the background materials placed before the Tribunal contained some lacunae, but equally that they were all that was seen to be relevant after considerable efforts had been taken by the parties to gather evidence. Accordingly, the AIT considered that on the general issue of prison conditions in Ukraine, the conclusion as above can stand as country guidance.” (bold print in original)

26. At paragraph 3.9.9, the OGN expresses the following “Conclusion”:- 


“Despite recent improvements, prison conditions in Ukraine are severe and taking into account the conclusions of the AIT in [2006] U.K. AIT 00016PS, conditions in prisons and detention facilities in Ukraine are likely to reach the Article 3 threshold. […] Where individual claimants are able to demonstrate a real risk of imprisonment on return to Ukraine, and exclusion is not justified, a grant of Humanitarian Protection will be appropriate.” (bold print in original)

27. This extract is of relevance, and I will return to it in due course. 
The Minister’s Decision (March, 2008)
28. The Minister’s response to the applicants’ representations with respect to his discretion, made by letter dated 13th March, 2008, was in the following terms:- 


“Following the decision in the Hila and Djolo judgment, recently handed down in the High Court, Mr. Justice Feeney held that the Minister has a discretion under Regulation 4(2) of the European Communities (Eligibility for Protection) Regulations 2006 – S.I. No. 518 of 2006 to accept and consider an application for subsidiary protection from an applicant who: 

(a) does not have an automatic right to apply (i.e. whose deportation order is dated prior to 10th October, 2006) and 

(b) Has identified new facts or circumstances which demonstrate a change of position from that at the time the deportation order was made.
Following consideration of the information submitted on your behalf, it has been concluded that there are no grounds which would enable the Minister to exercise his discretion under Regulation 4(2). Consequently the Minister has decided not to exercise his discretion to accept and consider the subsidiary protection application.”

29. As we have seen, it is this decision that is the subject of the present challenge. 
II. The Case of Abdelhafid Bensaada
30. The applicant is a national of Algeria. He arrived in the State on 22nd August, 1999 and applied for asylum on the basis of his alleged fear of being tortured by a militant Islamist group - the Groupe Islamique Armé (“GIA”) - if returned to Algeria. He claims that while working as a canteen assistant with an oil pipeline laying company, he received threatening letters from the GIA demanding that he cease work and, in late 1998 or early 1999, was kidnapped and tortured by four members of the GIA. Of note is that he has numerous scars on his body, which he says were inflicted at that time. The applicant draws attention to the fact that one of his brothers, Farid, was a policeman with the Anti-Terrorist police in Algeria. He says that the GIA members who kidnapped him told him they would beat him to death if he would not reveal where Farid was stationed. 
Procedural Background
31. The applicant received a negative recommendation from ORAC, which was notified to the applicant on 8th August, 2001 and thereafter affirmed on appeal to the RAT. The applicant was then invited, in the ordinary way, to make representations as to why he should be granted leave to remain in the State. He made no such representations, nor were any made on his behalf. Nevertheless, his file was examined under section 3 of the Immigration Act 1999 on 4th February, 2003, and the Minister thereafter signed a deportation order. The deportation order was notified to the applicant by letter dated 15th March, 2003, which directed him to present at the offices of the Garda National Immigration Bureau (GNIB) a week later. He failed to present and was classified as an evader. 

32. Between May, 2003 and February, 2004, several applications were made on the applicant’s behalf, including a belated application for leave to remain and an application for revocation of the deportation order, each of which was unsuccessful. The applicant came to be represented by his current solicitors in March, 2004, and a further application for revocation was made, this time supported by a SPIRASI medical report. SPIRASI (Spiritan Asylum Services Initiative) is a humanitarian, non-governmental organisation that works with asylum seekers, refugees and other disadvantaged migrant groups, with special concern for survivors of torture. This application for revocation was also unsuccessful and the Minister affirmed the deportation order on 10th October, 2004. On 1st November, 2006, the applicant was denied leave to challenge that decision. 

33. Meanwhile, in February, 2005, the Minister refused to re-admit the applicant to the asylum system. He once again affirmed the deportation order on 10th March, 2005. The applicant was notified that the enforcement of the deportation order was now an operational matter for the GNIB. It was in these circumstances that on 20th December, 2006, the applicant made an application for subsidiary protection. 
34. In order to understand the context in which the Minister came to consider the application for subsidiary protection, it is helpful to examine the matters considered to that point by the various authorities in greater detail.
Matters considered in relation to the applicant before December 2006
35. In the report prepared pursuant to section 13 of the Refugee Act 1996, the ORAC officer accepted that the applicant’s account of events tied in with what was known of Algeria and the GIA, and that his body bore witness to the fact that he was tortured. Negative credibility findings were made, however, as a result of the termination by the applicant of a second ORAC interview, which had been organised to allow the officer to probe the applicant’s account of events. At the second interview, the applicant became impatient, upset, and unwilling to undergo further questioning. 
36. Negative credibility findings were also made by the Tribunal Member, who found that the claim was “not credible or consistent.” The Tribunal Member concluded that the torture that the applicant had suffered appeared to be in the nature of an “indiscriminate attack”, and that it was not linked to a Convention ground. 

37. Similarly, when the applicant’s file was analysed under section 3 of the Immigration Act 1999, the official found that the applicant had scars consistent with the injuries he claimed to have received, but doubted the applicant’s credibility as a result of inconsistencies in the answers given at his ORAC interviews. This was affirmed by a second official. 
38. In May, 2003, a belated application for leave to remain was made to the Minister on behalf of the applicant by his original solicitors. The Refugee Legal Service (RLS) then came on record and, in support of that application for leave to remain, submitted a medical certificate and photographs of the marks and scars on the applicant’s body. In January, 2004, the Minister informed the RLS that he had been aware of the applicant’s medical condition when signing the deportation order. 
39. The applicant’s current solicitors came on record in March, 2004 and, after much correspondence, formally re-applied to the Minister to have the deportation order revoked on the basis that new evidence had been produced of his past experience of torture. In July, 2004, they forwarded to the Minister a SPIRASI medical report, which had not been available during his refugee application. This report states that the applicant’s mental state is “consistent with having sustained ill-treatment of the severity which he described” and that he has injuries and scarring “consistent with wounds that have been deliberately inflicted on a person”. The report considers that the “severity and nature of the ill-treatment described” bring the applicant’s injuries within the definition of torture under the UN Convention Against Torture. The report concludes although the applicant’s account contains inconsistencies, “such inconsistencies are well-described as the hallmarks of deliberately and cruelly inflicted mental and physical trauma.” 

40. The Minister refused to revoke the deportation order. In the document analysing the application for revocation, the Minister’s official noted as follows: 


“It is accepted that Mr Bensaada has clearly been the victim of torture, but it is important to note that this torture was carried out by the GIA and not the Algerian State or its representatives.” (bold print in original)

41. The document concludes that returning the applicant to Algeria would not be contrary to the prohibition of refoulement because, inter alia, the torture was not carried out by State agents. 
Consideration of the Subsidiary Protection application
42. The applicant’s initial application for subsidiary protection was rejected, as were those of the other applicants in these proceedings. However, following the decision in N.H & T.D, the applicant was invited to make representations as to why the Minister should exercise his discretion under Regulation 4(2). Representations were made on his behalf on 7th December, 2007. The Minister’s decision not to exercise his discretion to accept the applicant was notified to the applicant on 18th March, 2008. As with the other applicants, this letter states that “there are no grounds which would enable the Minister to exercise his discretion under Regulation 4(2).” 

43. In the document analysing the applicant’s representations, the official notes that an applicant has no automatic right to apply for subsidiary protection where a deportation order existed prior to the coming into force of the 2006 Regulations, but that as a result of decision in N.H & T.D, the situation is that:- 


“[T]he Minister has discretion to consider such an application for Subsidiary Protection, where the applicant has identified altered facts or circumstances from those which pertained at the time that the Minister made the deportation order, which would lead to him suffering serious harm if returned to his country of origin.”

44. The document considers the correspondence received from the applicant’s solicitors and the documents submitted therewith. This documentation is found to be “broadly similar in context and substance”, with minor variations, to that submitted in support of the application for revocation of the deportation order that the Minister considered in October, 2004. The official concludes that “the applicant has failed to identify altered circumstances through the documentation and information submitted which would lead to him being at risk of suffering serious harm.” 

45. It is this decision that the applicant is challenging in the present proceedings. 
III. Legal Arguments
46. The applicants’ challenge is based, essentially, on three primary arguments. First, it is said on behalf of the applicants in both cases that the Minister has acted upon an erroneous interpretation of the decision of Feeney J. in N.H & T.D v The Minister for Justice, Equality and Law Reform [2007] IEHC 277 by stating that his discretion under Regulation 4(2) of the European Communities (Eligibility for Protection) Regulations 2006 (S.I. No. 516 of 2006) can only be exercised when changed or altered facts or circumstances are shown. It is also argued on behalf of each applicant that the Minister, in approaching applications in this way, has adopted an inflexible rule and thereby unlawfully limited or fettered his discretion. The Minister contends that on the contrary, the view that he has taken of his discretion is a faithful adherence to the decision in N.H & T.D. 
47. An additional argument in this regard was advanced by Mr. Anthony Collins S.C. on behalf of Mr. Bensaada, who contended that if S.I. No. 516 of 2006, which the Minister was empowered to make “for the purpose of giving effect to” Council Directive 2004/83/EC, does not provide for a general discretion, the Statutory Instrument has failed to properly transpose the Directive. However, it seems to me that the difficulty with that argument is that it does not appear to take on board that there is nothing in the language of the Directive to suggest that those whose circumstances have been considered to a conclusion have any entitlement to seek to have their situation re-opened. In that regard, Feeney J. was quite specific, in N.H & T.D, that there was no such entitlement by virtue of the Directive. 
48. Secondly, it is contended on behalf of each of the applicants that even if the Minister is correct and altered circumstances must be shown, the applicants are, in fact, in a position to demonstrate that their circumstances have altered since the deportation orders were made. The applicants contend that the Minister failed to give adequate consideration to their representations in this respect. The Minister submits that on the contrary, no new or altered circumstances whatever had been established on the facts of the two cases under consideration. 
49. Thirdly, each applicant contends that there has been an unfairness or inequality of treatment in circumstances where the Minister permitted, without any conditions, a group of persons in respect of whom deportation order had been made but who had not been notified of this fact, to make an application for subsidiary protection. The Minister contends that there was nothing arbitrary, unfair, invidious or capricious in treating members of the small group, who were unaware that they were facing deportation, in the way that he did. 
50. In summary, the primary bases for the challenge as follows:- 


a. The extent of the Minister’s discretion under Regulation 4(2); 

b. The allegation of unequal treatment; and 
c. The existence of changed circumstances.

51. Before proceeding to consider these three arguments in greater detail, however, it is necessary to refer to a further area of legal dispute that arose at the hearing in the present case, namely the question of vires. 
The Question of Vires
52. At the hearing of the present proceedings, Mr. Robert Barron S.C., on behalf of the respondent, addressed an argument centred on the question of vires. He argues that the Minister’s discretion under Regulation 4(2) could not be absolute or unfettered, but rather that the scope of that discretion is restricted by what is necessitated by Council Directive 2004/83/EC. The Minister’s power to make Regulations, which was vested in him under section 3 of the European Communities Act 1972, was solely “for the purpose of giving effect to” the Council Directive. 
53. The respondent contends, therefore, that a general discretion to consider applications for subsidiary protection for persons to whom the Regulations do not apply would be ultra vires. It is submitted on his behalf, however, that a discretion to consider an application where new or altered facts and circumstances are shown would not be ultra vires, given that this could be read into Article 18 of the Council Directive. The respondent is of the view, however, that this is the absolute maximum that could be read into the powers of the Minister under Regulation 4(2). 

54. Mr John Finlay S.C., on behalf of the applicants, submits, in response, that this argument is inconsistent with the position taken by the Minister during N.H & T.D. and, indeed, with the position taken by the Minister following the handing down of the decision in that case. In addition, Mr Finlay S.C. says that that argument does not tally with the Minister’s exercise of discretion in accepting subsidiary protection applications from persons in respect of whom a deportation order had been made but not yet notified prior to 6th October, 2006. 
The Relevant Law
55. Before proceeding to consider the legal arguments in any detail, it may be helpful to first set out the relevant legal provisions. 

56. Council Directive 2004/83/EC of 29 April 2004 sets down minimum standards for the qualification and status of third country nationals or stateless persons as refugees or as persons who otherwise need international protection (“the Qualification Directive”). Article 18 thereof provides: 


“Member States shall grant subsidiary protection status to a third country national or a stateless person eligible for subsidiary protection in accordance with Chapters II and V.”

57. Article 2(e) of the Qualification Directive sets out the definition for those entitled to such subsidiary protection, which includes the following persons: 


“a third country national or stateless person who does not qualify as a refugee but in respect of whom substantial grounds have been shown for believing that the person concerned, if returned to his or her country of origin […] would face a real risk of suffering serious harm […]”.

58. ‘Serious harm’ is defined in Article 15 of the Directive as:- 


“A) Death penalty or execution; or 

B) Torture or inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment of an applicant in the country of origin, or, 

C) Serious and individual threat to a civilian’s life or person by reason of indiscriminate violence in situations of international or internal armed conflict.”

59. The European Communities (Eligibility for Protection) Regulations 2006 (S.I. No. 518 of 2006) (“the 2006 Regulations”) transpose the Qualification Directive into Irish law. These Regulations, which were made under section 3 of the European Communities Act 1972, came into force on 10th October, 2006. Regulation 4(2) thereof provides that the Minister is not obliged to consider an application for subsidiary protection from a person other than a person to whom section 3(2)(f) of the Immigration Act 1999 applies, or which is in a form other than that mentioned in paragraph 1(b). Section 3(2)(f) of the Act of 1999 refers to a person whose application for asylum has been refused, and in respect of whom a deportation order may be made but has not yet been made. Each of the applicants falls outside the scope of section 3(2)(f). 
60. Following the coming into force of the 2006 Regulations, an issue arose as to the entitlement to apply for subsidiary protection of persons, such as the applicants, in respect of whom deportation orders had already been made. Their situation was considered by Feeney J. in N.H & T.D. v The Minister for Justice, Equality and Law Reform [2007] IEHC 277. The correct interpretation of that decision is at the heart of the present proceeding. Indeed, the applicants’ primary contention is that the Minister’s interpretation of the extent of his own discretion under Regulation 4(2) of the 2006 Regulations to accept and process subsidiary protection applications is grounded on an erroneous interpretation of Feeney J.’s decision. It is therefore important to look at the terms of the decision. 
(A) THE EXTENT OF THE MINISTER’S DISCRETION: THE DECISION IN N.H. AND T.D.
61. N.H & T.D. concerned a challenge to the Minister’s refusal to consider subsidiary protection applications from persons in respect of whom deportation orders had been signed and notified prior to the coming into force of the 2006 Regulations. In standard form letters similar to those we have seen in the present proceedings, notifying the applicants of that refusal, the Minister set out his position that he had no discretion to examine their applications. He made no reference to Regulation 4(2) of the 2006 Regulations. The applicants argued that they had an automatic entitlement to submit an application for subsidiary protection and to have it considered. The respondent argued that the Minister had no discretion to entertain such applications. 
62. Feeney J. rejected both of these submissions. He accepted that the 2006 Regulations do not apply retrospectively and that because the applicants did not fall within the category in respect of which the Minister has an express obligation to examine applications, they had no automatic right to have their applications accepted and considered. He held, however, that the Minister has an implicit discretion under Regulation 4(2) to consider applications from persons falling outside of section 3(2) (f), and that such persons have a right to apply to the Minister to request him to exercise that discretion. Feeney J. noted that the Minister had, in fact, acknowledged this discretion by indicating that he would accept and process applications from the small group of persons who had not been notified of the deportation orders made in respect of them before the 2006 Regulations came into force. 
63. Feeney J. went on to discuss the circumstances in which the Minister’s discretion may be exercised. This discussion is at central to the present challenge and I will return to it.
(i) The Minister’s response to N.H & T.D.
64. The Minister’s interpretation of the decision in N.H & T.D. is evident from the letters sent in the aftermath of that decision to persons such as the applicants who had been notified of the making of deportation order in respect of them prior to the coming into force of the 2006 Regulations, inviting them to make representations as to why the Minister should exercise his discretion under Regulation 4(2). This correspondence, which is quoted at paragraph 16 above, establishes that the Minister interpreted the decision in N.H & T.D., as meaning that the exercise of his discretion under Regulation 4(2) is limited to situations where the applicants show new facts or circumstances. 
65. The applicants refute this interpretation of N.H & T.D. In their view, Feeney J. was not saying that a change of circumstances was absolutely required in order for the Minister to exercise his discretion under Regulation 4(2); rather, he was merely setting out a number of indicative criteria as to when the Minister might choose to exercise that discretion. The applicants submit that the Minister was incorrect to transform those indicative criteria into what they claim are jurisdictional preconditions that must be met before he can exercise his discretion. 
66. The applicants submit that it could not have been the intention of Feeney J. to impose an absolute requirement on the exercise of the Minister’s discretion because – in their submission – it does not lie within the jurisdiction of the High Court to prescribe and limit such discretion. In support of this contention they point to the decision of MacMenamin J. in Weston v An Bord Pleanála [2008] IEHC 71. In that case, it was argued if the Court were to declare that the respondent had acted in excess of jurisdiction, the Court should then consider whether the condition imposed was proportionate. MacMenamin J. considered that this would be an inappropriate course of action because any finding in relation to proportionality would necessarily carry with it an element of prescription, i.e. an indication as to the manner in which the respondent should proceed in the future. On this subject, MacMenamin J. commented:- 


“As Carroll J. found in Phillips v. The Medical Council [1992] ILRM 469, judicial review does not exist to direct procedure in advance […]. For this Court to seek to prescribe the manner in which the Board should proceed on any reconsideration would necessarily fetter its discretion. Still more would any direction to the effect that the Board should proceed in a particular way.”

(ii) The Fettering of Discretion
67. The applicants also contend that the Minister has unlawfully fettered or limited the exercise of his discretion under Regulation 4(2), by refusing to exercise that discretion unless an applicant has demonstrated altered circumstances. The applicants contend that the Minister has laid down an absolute and inflexible policy, and allows no departure from it. 
68. In this regard, the applicants point to the decision of Kelly J. in Mishra v The Minister for Justice, Equality and Law Reform [1996] 1 IR 189, and that of the House of Lords in British Oxygen Co. v Board of Trade [1971] AC 610. These decisions are of some guidance. In Mishra, arguments similar to those canvassed in the present case were advanced. The applicant, who was a national of India and was licensed to practice medicine there, applied for naturalisation in Ireland under the Irish Nationality and Citizenship Acts 1956 and 1986. He had been granted temporary registration as a temporary medical practitioner, but had not yet been admitted as a member of the Royal College of Physicians of Ireland and had not acquired full registration under the formal Medical Council rules. The Minister refused to grant a certificate of naturalisation. 
69. The applicant argued that the Minister had exercised his “absolute discretion” to grant naturalisation in an arbitrary and unjust manner. The applicant complained that in refusing to grant him naturalisation, the Minister had implemented a policy not to naturalise people who would be unemployable in their chosen profession – i.e. doctors who were not registered to practice medicine in Ireland – and who would use their Irish citizenship to gain access to countries to which they would otherwise not have had access if they had remained citizens of their country of origin, and would not, therefore, be able to fulfil section 15(d) of the Act of 1956, which envisaged them residing in Ireland after naturalisation. The applicant complained that this general policy was applied in his case without taking into account in an adequate way his circumstances and those of his family. 
70. Kelly J. first noted that according to established caselaw, the absolute discretion conferred by the Acts upon the Minister was “subject of course to its being exercised in accordance with constitutional justice.” He went on to find that there was nothing wrong with the Minister adopting a general policy not to naturalise people who would be unemployable in their chosen profession and who would therefore emigrate after obtaining citizenship. To this, he added:- 


“However, care must be taken to ensure that the application of this policy or rules does not disable the Minister from exercising her discretion in individual cases. In other words, the use of a policy or a set of fixed rules must not fetter the discretion which is conferred by the Act. Neither, in my view, must the application of those rules produce a result which is fundamentally at variance with the evidence placed before the Minister by an applicant.”

71. In the British Oxygen Co. decision, the House of Lords considered the operation by the respondent Board of Trade of a discretion to make grants towards expenditure on the provision of new business assets, under section 1 of the Industrial Development Act 1966. Lord Reid held:- 


“There are two general grounds on which the exercise of an unqualified discretion can be attacked. It must not be exercised in bad faith, and it must not be so unreasonably exercised as to show that there cannot have been any real or genuine exercise of the discretion. But, apart from that, if the Minister thinks that policy or good administration requires the operation of some limiting rule, I find nothing to stop him.”

72. Lord Reid further observed:- 


“The general rule is that anyone who has to exercise a statutory discretion must not “shut his ears to an application”.[…] There may be cases where an officer or authority ought to listen to a substantial argument reasonably presented urging a change of policy. What the authority must not do is to refuse to listen at all.”

73. The applicants contend that these dicta would apply all the more so to what the applicants see as a plainly wrong view being adopted by the Minister that not alone was he going to adopt the policy in question but that he was precluded as a matter of law from considering the matter on any other basis. 

74. It must be said that the Minister did not believe that he was exercising a discretion, and more particularly did not believe that he was fettering the exercise of that discretion. Rather, he took the view that he was acting as directed to act by the High Court. It is, in effect, accepted that it would have been acceptable for the Minister to adopt a general position of seeking to identify whether there was a change of circumstances, but what is not acceptable, it is said, is for the Minister to adopt a rigid rule. In my opinion, this was not a case where the Minister was fettering the exercise of an acknowledged discretion but, rather, one where he took the view that he had no discretion to exercise, but was mandated to approach his task in a particular way as a result of the High Court decision. The validity of the decision will rely on whether or not he was right or wrong in that regard. 
Decision
75. In my view, the question of whether the Minister’s discretion under Regulation 4(2) is open and total or, rather, can only be exercised where there are changed circumstances, has been clearly decided by Feeney J. In N.H & T.D., having determined that the Minister does have a discretion under Regulation 4(2), Feeney J. engaged in a careful and detailed analysis of the issues arising for consideration at the deportation order stage and at the subsidiary protection stage. He identified a number of differences, albeit limited, between the two. He noted, for example, that the matters requiring consideration under section 5 of the Refugee Act 1996 (leave to remain) are different to some degree to those under Article 15 of the Qualification Directive (subsidiary protection). He also identified a difference between the definition of torture under the Criminal Justice (United Nations Convention Against Torture) Act 2000, as amended (leave to remain), and under Article 15 (subsidiary protection). From these findings, Feeney J. concluded as follows:- 


“In the majority if not the vast majority of cases where the Minister considered whether or not to make a deportation order prior to the implementation of the Directive the Minister would have to have considered the same or identical matters as would require to be considered in relation to "serious harm" as defined in the Directive. However it could not be said that that was the position in all cases. Regulation 4(2) however provides a mechanism to allow discretion to be considered, and if appropriate, exercised in the exceptional case.”

76. From this statement alone, it is clear that Feeney J. envisaged the exercise of the Minister’s discretion under Regulation 4(2) in cases where the grounds upon which the subsidiary protection application is made are not “the same or identical” to the matters already considered at the deportation order stage. It appears to me that this is the bedrock upon which the decision was thereafter built. 
77. Reliance need not be placed on this statement alone, however, as further guidance as to the interpretation of the decision is available. Feeney J. firmly rejected the contention that there was an obligation on the Minister to review or renew earlier decisions that were made during the asylum process or at the deportation order stage. He held that persons who had fully pursued an earlier application do not have an automatic right to a fresh consideration of their situation under the terms of the Qualification Directive. This view was, however, subject to the following caveat:- 


“However if fresh facts and circumstances have arisen then those can be identified and put before the Minister to enable him, following fair procedures, to decide whether or not to exercise his discretion.”

78. Thus, Feeney J. considered that an applicant may ask the Minister to exercise his discretion to consider an application for subsidiary protection if he or she can show that fresh facts or circumstances have arisen since the deportation order was made. Feeney J. reiterated this position a little further on, as follows:- 


“[…] it is open to such persons to seek to have the Minister to consider their application if they can identify facts or circumstances which demonstrate a change or alteration from what was the position at the time that the deportation order was made.”

79. I cannot see that there is any ambiguity about this aspect of the decision. I am fortified in that view by the judgment of Hedigan J. in Yesilova v The Minister for Justice, Equality and Law Reform (unreported, High Court, 9th October, 2008). In the course of his judgment, Hedigan J. commented as follows:- 


“In my view, it is clear from the decision of Feeney J. that a person such as the applicant in this case, who had a deportation order made in respect of them and notified to them by 10th October, 2006, is entitled to apply to the Minister, requesting that he exercise his discretion under Regulation 4(2) of the Regulations of 2006 to accept and consider their application for subsidiary protection. It is crucial, however, that such applicants must seek to show new or altered facts or circumstances that demonstrate a change of position since the deportation order was made.” (emphasis added). 

80. In N.H. & T.D., Feeney J. went on to discuss what might amount to altered facts or circumstances. This discussion is relevant to the applicants’ arguments in respect of the existence of changed circumstances, and I will return to it in due course. Towards the end of his judgment, Feeney J. articulated the following summary of his view as to the exercise of the Minister’s discretion, which merits quotation:- 


“If a person who had already been refused subsidiary protection or leave to remain is able to identify new facts or circumstances arising thereafter then the Minister has a discretion to allow an application for subsidiary protection. There is no entitlement to any fresh consideration and the Directive does not require such but the Minister has an express power to allow same.”

81. It seems to me that the clarity of this statement cannot be impeached. Had Feeney J. been of the view that the existence of fresh facts or circumstances was simply a matter to be considered when it came to exercising the discretion, it is inconceivable that he would have expressed himself in terms of the entitlement of individuals who had established changed circumstances to seek the exercise of the discretion. While of course there are occasions when the principle of stare decisis may be departed from, it is well established that such occasions are extremely rare. As held by Parke J. in Irish Trust Bank Ltd v Central Bank of Ireland [1974-1975] ILRM 50:- 

“A Court may depart from a decision of a Court of equal jurisdiction if it appears that such a decision was given in a case in which either insufficient authority was cited or incorrect submissions advanced or in which the nature and wording of the judgment itself reveals that the Judge disregarded or misunderstood an important element in the case or the arguments submitted to him or the authority cited or in some other way departed from the proper standard to be adopted in judicial determination. […] Whatever may be the case in Courts of final appellate jurisdiction a Court of first instance should be very slow to act on such a proposition unless the arguments in favour of it were coercive. If a decision of a Court of first instance is to be challenged I consider that the appellate Court is the proper tribunal to declare the law unless the decision in question manifestly displays some one or more of the infirmities to which I have referred.”

82. No infirmities or inaccuracies are to be found in the decision of Feeney J. in N.H & T.D, manifestly or otherwise. On the contrary, I do not think that there is any ambiguity in the decision whatever. Rather, it is quite clear from Feeney J.’s decision that the Minister does not have an obligation to reconsider the situation of any person in respect of whom a deportation order was made prior to the coming into force of the 2006 Regulations. Nevertheless, the Minister retains a discretion under Regulation 4(2) to accept and consider an application for subsidiary protection from an applicant who is able to show that a change of circumstances has arisen since the deportation order was made. The Minister’s discretion under Regulation 4(2) is for the purpose of implementing the Qualification Directive. If there was a totally open-ended discretion, this would mean that the 2006 Regulations went beyond what was required to implement the Directive, and would involve the Minister receiving and considering applications outside the contemplation of the Directive. 

83. Given the careful and detailed analysis carried out by Feeney J. and the firm and clear terms in which he expressed his conclusion, I believe that in all the circumstances, I am bound to follow his decision and I am happy to do so. In the circumstances, I find that the Minister’s interpretation of N.H. & T.D. is correct. 
84. Having regard to the view that I have formed that the Minister’s interpretation was correct, it is unnecessary to consider what the situation would have been if, contrary to the Minister’s understanding, the Regulations had provided an unqualified and unlimited discretion. 
(B) UNEQUAL TREATMENT
85. The applicants in both cases have argued that in requiring them - and others in a similar position - to establish changed circumstances before the Minister would accept and consider an application for subsidiary protection, they have been denied equality of treatment with other applicants. Indeed, it is argued that the Minister had been guilty of discriminatory treatment. 
86. This argument – which I have to say I find an unattractive one – is based on the fact that the Minister permitted and, indeed, invited a small group of applicants, numbering approximately fifty, in respect of whom deportation order had been made but not yet been notified before 6th October, 2006, to apply for subsidiary protection. The applicants in the present case say that there is no justification for dividing into two groups individuals in respect of whom deportation order have been made, by reference to whether or not they were notified of the making of those orders. 
87. The applicants say that not only is there no logical basis for this distinction, but the distinction is, in fact, positively illogical, as there will be very little likelihood of any change of circumstances having occurred where the deportation order is a very recent one. If, on the other hand, a significant period has elapsed between the time the deportation order was made and the subsidiary protection application submitted, there is much greater scope for a significant change of circumstance. Indeed, as much was recognised by Feeney J. in N.H & T.D, as follows:- 


“[…] there can be instances in which there is a substantial time lapse between the Minister’s determination and any attempt to enforce a deportation order. That time lapse obviously gives rise to the possibility that the circumstances either personal or in the Applicant's country of origin would have altered. A long delay increases the possibility of relevant fresh facts or circumstances having arisen from the date of the deportation order.”

88. The applicants’ arguments in this case echo the contentions that would seem to have been advanced in Bode v The Minister for Justice, Equality and Law Reform [2007] IESC 62, contentions that were very firmly rejected by the Supreme Court. 
89. The respondent argues that the Minister was entitled to draw a distinction between the position of the fifty individuals who had not been informed of the making of a deportation order and the position of the 10,000 individuals who had completed the process. In the written submissions, the respondent puts it this way: 


“The Minister, out of an abundance of caution, and in the interests of fairness, was affording an opportunity to a discrete number of persons to apply for subsidiary protection. Such an opportunity was granted to these persons for a logical and sensible reason and was not afforded to such persons on an unequal or unfair basis.”

90. For my part, I can well see that a situation where individuals would have to be told that they had lost entitlements before they even knew they had them would give rise to a degree of disquiet. Consider the situation of an individual who was quite unaware that the consideration of his case had been completed, and that a deportation order had been made in respect of him, who submitted an application on the very day on which the Regulations came into effect, but was met with the response that a deportation order, of which he was unaware, had been made some time earlier. Would such an individual not have a sense of grievance? And would there not be many throughout the community who would feel than this sense of grievance was well founded? 
91. It is well established that the Constitutional guarantee of equality of treatment is designed to forbid discrimination that is arbitrary, unjust or invidious. However, neither under the Constitution nor under the Convention is absolute equality of treatment required. What is prohibited, on the contrary, is invidious discrimination. In The State (Nicolaou) v An Bord Uchtála [1966] IR 567, Walsh J. stated as follows, at page 639:- 


“In the opinion of the Court section 1 of Article 40 is not to be read as a guarantee or undertaking that all citizens shall be treated by the law as equal for all purposes, but rather as an acknowledgment of the human equality of all citizens and that such equality will be recognised in the laws of the State. The section itself in its provision … is a recognition that inequality may or must result from some special abilities or from some deficiency or from some special need and it is clear that the Article does not either envisage or guarantee equal measure in all things to all citizens. To do so regardless of the factors mentioned would be inequality.”

92. This is equally evident from the statement of Ó Dálaigh CJ in O’Brien v Keogh & O’Brien [1972] IR 144, at pages 155-156, that:- 


“Article 40 does not require identical treatment of all persons without recognition of differences in relevant circumstances. It only forbids invidious discrimination.” 

93. Walsh J. reiterated this principle in De Burca and Anderson v AG [1976] IR 38, where he held, at page 68, that:- 


“Briefly stated, the effect of these cases is that Article 40 does not require identical treatment of all persons without recognition of differences in relevant circumstances but it forbids invidious or arbitrary discrimination. It imports the Aristotelian concept that justice demands that we treat equals equally and unequals unequally.”

94. It is my view that in this case, the Minister treated equals equally and unequals unequally. I am satisfied that in drawing the distinction that he did, the Minister was pursuing a legitimate aim, which was designed to achieve fairness in the system and to promote confidence in the system, in that it should be seen to be fair. It could not be said that he engaged in invidious or capricious discrimination. Thus, I reject the applicants’ arguments with respect to inequality of treatment. 
(C) CHANGED CIRCUMSTANCES
95. It will be recalled that in the case of each of the applicants, the Minister considered that no new fact or circumstance was established. Rather, in each case the Minister decided that the facts and circumstances presented in the applicants’ representations were substantially the same as those pertaining at the time at which the deportation orders were made and affirmed. He did not, therefore, find any grounds on which he could exercise his discretion under Regulation 4(2). 

96. The applicants contend the Minister failed to apply the criteria that he said he was applying, and failed to properly or adequately consider their representations. They submit that those representations demonstrate fresh and altered facts and circumstances from that which pertained at the deportation order stage and that the Minister was, consequently, wrong to suggest that there were no grounds for the exercise of his discretion.
Mr and Mrs Gavrylyuk
97. Mr and Mrs Gavrylyuk complain that in assessing whether or not they had established changed facts or circumstances, the Minister failed to consider the following: 

a. That at the deportation order stage, the Minister was not obliged to take into consideration threats to the applicants’ lives and freedoms that did not have a Convention nexus; and 

b. That fresh country of origin information submitted by the applicants with their application for subsidiary protection indicated that the return of persons to the Ukraine under a fear of imprisonment may constitute a breach of Article 3 of the ECHR.

98. In the first instance, the applicants complain that at all stages preceding the subsidiary protection stage, the Minister engaged in a restricted exercise when considering the prohibition of refoulement under section 5 of the Refugee Act 1996. Section 5(1) prohibits the expulsion of a person from the State to a territory where the life or freedom of that person would be threatened on account of a Convention ground (race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion). The applicants argue that the Minister’s consideration was therefore restricted to whether or not the threat was linked to a Convention ground. Article 15 of the Qualification Directive does not require that the risk of serious harm is linked to a Convention ground. The applicants say that this is of considerable practical significance because the view was taken during the asylum process that the applicants were not at risk of harm for Convention reasons but, rather, that such fears as they had were in relation to prosecution and not persecution. 
99. While it is true that section 5 requires the Minister only to consider whether an applicant’s life or liberty would be threatened on a Convention ground, this does not represent the full extent of the Minister’s obligations. Before making a deportation order, the Minister is also obliged to have regard to the State’s obligations under section 4 of the Criminal Justice (U.N. Convention against Torture) Act 2000 and Article 3 of the European Convention on Human Rights. Neither of these requires a nexus to a Convention ground. 
100. The second specific area in relation to which the applicants claim to be able to establish fresh facts and circumstances is in relation to prison conditions in Ukraine. The applicants submit that the country of origin information that was submitted with the subsidiary protection application in relation to prison conditions in the Ukraine was of a different order altogether to what was previously available, and that the Minister paid insufficient attention to this fact. Of the country information submitted at that stage, particular significance is attached to the U.K. Home Office Operational Guidance Note - Ukraine of the 4th April, 2007 (“OGN”), quoted at paragraphs 25 and 26 above, which summarises recent caselaw of the UK Asylum and Immigration Tribunal (“AIT”) relating to prison conditions in the Ukraine, and states that prison conditions may not reach the Article 3 threshold. 
101. Consideration of this issue is not made any easier by the fact that in the case of both applicants, their original asylum application might fairly be described as diffuse or lacking in focus. Neither applicant made any specific reference to prison conditions and even the reference to imprisonment was somewhat conditional. The first named applicant’s reason for claiming asylum was given as “economical” (sic), this in a context where he states that it is not possible to support a family because of the harsh economic situation and low standard of living. While the first named applicant does, indeed, refer to having been threatened with imprisonment, it appears that the threat was conditional, in the sense that it would occur if he did not pay a fine. Likewise, the fear expressed by the second named applicant does not seem to have been that she would be immediately imprisoned upon return but rather that she would be imprisoned if she failed to pay a specified sum owing to the Ukranian tax authorities, which seems to have been calculated on the basis of unpaid tax, interest, penalties and fines 

102. Moreover, the applicants’ representations seeking leave to remain did not raise any specific fears in relation to the conditions that they could expect to experience if they were imprisoned. Even though the applicants themselves did not focus particularly on the question of prison conditions, the analysis of their files carried out under section 3 of the Immigration Act 1999 does deal with this issue, to some extent at least. As noted in paragraph 13 above, the analysis conducted in the case of the second named applicant quotes from a UK Home Office report on Ukraine, published in April, 2003, which stated on the subject of Prisons and Prison Conditions (at paragraph 5.22) that prison conditions remained poor and overcrowding was a major problem. 

103. It is true that the analysis conducted in the case of the first named applicant does not contain this quotation, but I believe that I am entitled to have regard to the fact, already noted, that both analyses were conducted by the same official on the same day. 
104. Dealing, first of all, with the question of the actual prison conditions that prevail, there is nothing at all to suggest that conditions have deteriorated since the making of the deportation orders. On the contrary, one gets the clear sense from the considerable amount of country of origin information that has been assembled that there has been some improvement over recent years, though from a wholly unsatisfactory starting point, but that such improvements as there have been have not brought prisons up to acceptable international standards. 
105. Neither can it be suggested that the international community was unaware of the unsatisfactory state of Ukraine’s penal system, as is evident from the UK Home Office O.G.N. and US State Department report, to which I have referred. Nor, in the light of the statement quoted from the U.K. Home Office report of April, 2003, can it be suggested that there was an absence of a realisation that conditions did not meet minimum international standards. 

106. The applicants place heavy emphasis on the reference in the UK Home Office O.G.N. of 4th April, 2007 to the fact that conditions in prisons and detention facilities in Ukraine are likely to reach the Article 3 threshold, set out at paragraphs 25 and 26 above. However, a careful analysis reveals that this view was also expressed in country of origin reports that were before the Minister at the deportation order stage. The extracts quoted by the official conducting the section 3 analysis referred, as I have noted, to a failure to meet minimum international standards. In addition, a UK Home Office Operational Guidance Note of 23rd July, 2003, which was among the documents available to the Minister at the leave to remain / deportation order stage, having quoted from paragraph 5.22 of its report on Ukraine of April, 2003, which is set out above at paragraph 13 of this judgment, goes on to expressly state that “[p]rison conditions could amount to a breach of Article 3”. 
107. Thus, the country of origin information that was before the Minister at the deportation order stage with respect to prison conditions in Ukraine did not differ in any significant way from that which was put forward in support of the subsidiary protection applications and the request for the Minister to exercise his discretion under Regulation 4(2). In all the circumstances, I am not of the view that Mr and Mrs Gavrylyuk have pointed to a change in their personal circumstances, a change in their country or origin, or a changed legal environment of such significance that the Minister was obliged to consider exercising his discretion under Regulation 4(2).
Mr. Bensaada 
108. Mr Bensaada also contends that he can establish fresh facts and circumstances demonstrating a change of position from that which pertained, in his case, at the date on which the deportation orders was last affirmed. He submits that his position has been affected by the introduction of the obligation to consider the risk of serious harm as defined in Article 15 of the Qualification Directive. He argues that this is the first of three situations that were identified in N.H & T.D as potentially amounting to “altered circumstances”. 
109. In order to assess the applicant’s arguments it is appropriate, at this stage, to return to the decision in N.H & T.D. Having found that the Minister did indeed have a discretion under Regulation 4(2), Feeney J. engaged in a careful and detailed analysis of the circumstances in which the Minister might choose to exercise that discretion. He considered that a change or alteration may arise owing to a substantial time lapse between the making of a deportation order and an attempt to enforce the order. He accepted that during such time, the applicant’s personal circumstances or the circumstances in his or her country of origin may have altered. He then went on to list three situations that “could” amount to new facts or circumstances, as follows:- 


“Those altered circumstances could include a claim that their personal position is effected by the Directives definition of serious harm. Altered circumstances might also arise as a result of the passage of a prolonged period of time resulting in altered personal circumstances or alterations in the conditions in the Applicant’s country of origin. It is open to the Minister in determining whether or not to exercise his discretion to have regard to any new or altered, circumstances or facts identified by the person seeking to have the Minister exercise his discretion.”

110. Two matters must be noted with respect to this statement. First, Feeney J. makes clear that the matters listed could amount to altered circumstances. In doing so, he implicitly recognises that there may be other circumstances, aside from those he is about to list. In other words, this is a non-exhaustive list. Secondly, it is worth summarising the three (non-exhaustive) situations that he identified as potentially amounting to altered circumstances, which are:- 


a. That the applicant’s position is affected by the change in the definition of ‘serious harm’; or 

b. That altered personal circumstances have arisen; or 

c. That conditions in the applicant’s country of origin had changed.

111. In the aftermath of the N.H & T.D judgment, however, the Minister’s Department wrote to the applicant, informing him of the possibility of applying to the Minister to exercise his discretion under Regulation 4(2). The letter referred only to the second and third situations identified by Feeney J, to the exclusion of the first:- 


“[Y]ou are invited to make representations setting out any new facts or circumstances relating either to himself personally or to conditions in his country of origin which demonstrate a change of position from that which pertained at the time the deportation order was made.” 

112. The applicant complains that the Minister has failed to recognise the first of the three situations expressly identified by Feeney J. (i.e. that “altered circumstances could include a claim that their personal position is effected by the Directive’s definition of serious harm”), citing only the second and third situations as the grounds upon which he can exercise his discretion under Regulation 4(2). 
113. In this case, there does not appear to be any alteration in the applicant’s personal circumstances, neither is there any basis for suggesting that there has been a change in the conditions that prevail in Algeria. Indeed, the contrary is the case, in that it appears from the country of origin information available that the security situation has, if anything, improved while the applicant has been in Ireland. 
114. There remains for consideration, however, the change in the definition of ‘serious harm’. The applicant submits that his is one of the very rare cases that fall within the wider definition of ‘serious harm’ contained in Article 15, but which failed to meet the definition contained in the Criminal Justice (UN Convention Against Torture) Act 2000, as amended. 
115. As enacted, section 4(1) of the Act of 2000 provided as follows:- 

“A person shall not be expelled or returned from the State to another state where the Minister is of the opinion that there are substantial grounds for believing that the person would be in danger of being subjected to torture.”

116. Section 1(1) of the Act of 2000 provides the statutory definition of torture as “an act or omission by which severe pain or suffering, whether physical or mental, is intentionally inflicted on a person” for specified purposes, but excluding “any such act that arises solely from, or is inherent in or incidental to, lawful sanctions”. This definition was amended by section 186 of the Criminal Justice Act 2006, such that ‘torture’ is now limited to such acts or omissions that are “done or made, or at the instigation of, or with the consent or acquiescence of a public official”. This section came into force on 1st August, 2006, pursuant to S.I. No. 390 of 2006. Thus, after this date, an act or omission required a nexus to a public official in order to constitute torture for the purposes of the statute, whereas before this date, no such nexus required. 
117. It is clear, however, from the submissions addressed to the Court in the case of Lelimo v The Minister for Justice, Equality and Law Reform [2004] IEHC 390 that prior to 30th November, 2004 (i.e. the date on which that decision was delivered), the Minister’s Department was operating on the basis that the requirement of a nexus to a public official was to be read into section 1(1), as originally enacted. Thus, it was only between 30th November, 2004, and 1st August, 2006, that the Department was aware that no nexus was required. The applicant’s file was examined under section 3 on 4th February, 2003. It may be deduced that at that time, the Department did not consider that the return of the applicant to Algeria, where he might be subjected to torture at the hands of the GIA (i.e. persons other than public officials), would be in breach of its obligation under the UN (Convention Against Torture) Act 2000. 
118. The wider definition of torture contained in Article 15 of the Qualification Directive encompasses torture at the hands of non-State agents, such as the GIA and, as such, different considerations now apply. Indeed, it was acknowledged by Feeney J. in N.H & T.D that the definition contained section 4 is “narrower than that contained in article 15” because section 4 requires a nexus to a public official. 

119. In the context of the altered definition of torture, it is helpful to recall the ORAC section 13 report, where it was expressly accepted that the applicant had, indeed, been tortured. The decision of the RAT is less specific in this regard. However the examination of the applicant’s file under section 3 refers, in some detail, to the extensive scarring on the applicant’s body, stating that:- 


“Mr. Bensaada has scars consistent with the injuries he said he received.”

120. Most striking of all is the submission, which I have already quoted, to the Minister, through his Private Secretary, from the Assistant Principal of the Repatriation Unit, dated 22nd September, 2004, which expressly states at paragraph 8:- 

“It is accepted that Mr. Bensaada has clearly been the victim of torture, but it is important to note that this torture was carried out by the GIA and not Algerian State or its representatives.” (emphasis and bold print in original). 

121. The concluding paragraph of this submission, where the Assistant Principal recommends that the Minister affirm the deportation order made in respect of Mr. Bensaada, begins as follows:- 


“Having considered all of the facts of this case, I am of the opinion that while Mr. Bensaada has been a victim of torture, repatriating him to Algeria is not contrary to Section 5 of the Refugee Act, 1996 in this instance.” (emphasis added)

122. The Minister’s analysis of the applicant’s request that he exercise his discretion under Regulation 4(2), dated 17th January, 2008, compares the documentation submitted by the applicant in 2003 and 2004 with that which was submitted as part of the application for subsidiary protection. It concluded that the more recent documentation and information, although in some instances different in nature and date, is broadly similar in context and substance to the earlier documentation. While undoubtedly there is a great degree of overlap in terms of the issues raised and the documentation submitted, this analysis does not do full justice to the letter from the applicant’s solicitor of 7th December, 2007, which referred very specifically to the changed and expanded definition of serious harm that had been recognised by Feeney J. in N.H & T.D. 

123. In a situation where it is clearly accepted that the applicant has been the victim of torture in the past, albeit in circumstances thought not to give rise to an entitlement to leave to remain in the State, and where restrictions on entitlements that previously existed – or were thought to exist – have been relaxed under the Qualification Directive and the 2006 Regulations, it seems to be that this relaxation and extension, beyond doubt, amounts to changed circumstances. In light of such changed circumstances, I am of the view that Mr. Bensaada is entitled to the relief sought.
CONCLUSION
124. In summary, I am of the view that the Minister was entitled to require applicants to establish changed circumstances and that there was nothing unfair in requiring that of these applicants when no similar requirement had been made of those individuals who had not been notified that deportation orders were already made. Insofar as there was a requirement to establish changed circumstances, the Minister was entitled to take the view that he did, that no such circumstance had been established by Mr. and Mrs. Gavrylyuk. Accordingly, I am bound to refuse the relief sought. 

125. However, in the case of Mr. Bensaada, I am of the view that the Minister’s consideration of the situation was defective in that he failed to have sufficient regard to the changed definitions of serious harm and torture, in a situation where it appeared to be accepted that the applicant had, in fact, been subjected to torture. Accordingly, I grant the relief sought by Mr Bensaada. 
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